IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Supreme Court Case No. S252702

| SUPRI | EME | E CC |)(IRT |
|-------|-----|------|-------|
| FI | L | F | Ď. |

AUG 0 6 2019

| PROPUE OF THE CTATE OF CALIFORNIA | 7 |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, | Jorge Navarrete Clerk |
| Plaintiff and Appellant, |) No. F075101 |
| v. | Deputy) Sup. Ct. Complaint Nos.) F16903119 and |
| CODY WADE HENSON, |) F16901499 |
| Petitioner, Defendant and Respondent | |

Appeal from the Superior Court of Fresno County

Honorable Judge W. Kent Hamlin

DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA A. SMITH
Attorney at Law
State Bar No. 78223

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When a defendant is held to answer following separate preliminary hearings on charges brought in separate complaints, can the prosecutor file a "unitary information" covering the charges in both of those cases or must they obtain the trial court's permission to consolidate the pleadings? (See Pen. Code, §§ 949, 954.)

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On March 7, 2016, Cody Wade Henson was charged by criminal complaint number F1690499 [hereinafter, "499"], with four offenses committed on March 4, 2016: The unlawful driving or taking of a vehicle (count one; Veh.Code, § 10851, subd. (a)); receiving a stolen vehicle (count two; Pen.Code, § 496d, subd. (a)); misdemeanor resisting arrest (count three; Pen. Code, § 148, subd. (a)(1)); and misdemeanor possession of burglary tools (count four; Pen. Code, § 466). It was alleged that prior vehicle theft convictions rendered counts one and two felonies. (Pen. Code, § 666.5.) Mr. Henson was also alleged to have two prison priors. (Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (b); 1CT 6-8.)

On March 8, 2016, Mr. Henson was arraigned on case 499, and released on bond pending the preliminary examination hearing. (1CT 9-12.)

On May 19, 2016, a second complaint was filed, Superior Court case number F16903119 [hereinafter, "119"], alleging offenses committed by Mr. Henson on May 17, 2016. These were unlawful driving or taking of a vehicle (counts one and three; Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a)); receiving a stolen vehicle (counts two and four; Pen. Code, § 496d, subd. (a)); and misdemeanor resisting arrest (count five; Pen. Code, § 148, subd. (a)(1)). The same prison priors and theft priors were alleged. (1CT 21-23.) It was also alleged that Mr. Henson was on bail in case number 499 when he committed the offenses in case number 119. (Pen. Code, § 12022.1; 1CT 23.)

On November 16, 2016, a preliminary examination hearing for the 119 case was

conducted by Judge Denise Whitehead in Department 74. Mr. Henson was bound over, with arraignment set for December 1, 2016. (1CT 76-112.) Although complaints are sometimes deemed to be informations at the close of the preliminary hearing, that did not occur here. (1CT 111-112.)

On November 22, 2016, a preliminary hearing for the 499 case was conducted by Judge Don Penner, in Department 34. He bound Mr. Henson over on the charges, with an arraignment set for the same date, December 1, 2016. (1CT 149-186.) The 499 complaint was also not deemed by the magistrate to constitute an information. (1CT 185-186.)

On November 29, 2016, the prosecutor attempted to file an information combining the charges from the separate complaints in case numbers 419 and 199 into one accusatory pleading. That date stamp was crossed out and there was a subsequent filing stamp on the pleading, dated December 1, 2016. (1CT 123-128.) No information number was generated for either case. The caption said "CASE NUMBERS," followed by the 119 and 499 complaint numbers. The word "Lead" appeared in parentheses after the 119 case number, apparently to designate it as the "lead" case. Underneath that line, the document indicated the arraignment date, and the two District Attorney file numbers for the two complaints. The final line of the caption was the title of the document, which was a single word, "INFORMATION." (1CT 123 [emphasis in original].)

In his appellant's opening brief on the prosecution appeal of the dismissal of some

of the counts, the prosecutor explained:

On November 29, 2016 Appellant attempted to file its "first pleading on the part of the people in the superior court," as defined in section 949. The six page Information joined the allegations held to answer in case 119 and 499, designating case 119 as the "Lead" case. (CT:123-128.) This filing was rejected by the Superior Court clerk, as demonstrated by the file stamp of "2016 Nov 29" having an "X" through it. (CT:123.)

On December 1, 2016 the same "first" pleading was presented to the court's Judicial Assistant in Department 34 of the Superior Court. The Judicial Assistant accepted and filed the Information, writing in the word "CONSOLIDATED" above the word "INFORMATION," and file stamped the pleading December 1, 2016. (CT:123.) The same Information was filed in each case file to accommodate the court's two case files from the probable cause phase. (RT:128, 133.)

(AOB 10.)

The two complaint files remained physically separate throughout these proceedings. (2RT 104.)¹ Chaos ensued. Mr. Henson had separate counsel on each case: Ciummo and Associates on case number 119, and the Public Defender on case number 499. Both appeared in Department 34 before Judge Penner on December 1, 2016, asking to continue the arraignment on the "Information." The Public Defender had not received the new charging document (1Aug.RT 4) and thought combining the cases could create a conflict. The hearing transcript indicates the Ciummo and Associates attorney was also unfamiliar with the new charging document for the two cases. (1CT 121-122; 1Aug.RT

¹ Clerk's minutes throughout the case state: "Charging Document: Formal Complaint," with separate entries for each of the two cases, under each of the two complaint numbers. (1CT 121-122, 129-133, 135-136, 235.)

1-6.) The District Attorney asked to dismiss the count three resisting arrest charge in the 119 case, but Judge Penner said he couldn't, as the information had not been filed.

(1Aug.RT 5-6.)

On December 8, 2016, both counsel appeared again before Judge Penner in Department 34. Four cases were called, the 119 case, the 499 case, a case ending in 032, and a misdemeanor case ending in 703. Ms. Pauline Seiler of Ciummo and Associates appeared on cases 119 and 032. The Public Defender appeared on cases 499 and 703. (1Aug. RT 7.) Ms. Seiler objected that she knew nothing of the 499 case, and objected to combining that case with hers. (1Aug.RT 8.) Attorney David Mugridge also appeared, saying he was negotiating with the family to be retained on the case ending 032, and perhaps more cases if there was a consolidation order. (1Aug.RT 13-15.) The Public Defender said that if the omnibus information was filed, effectively consolidating the charges, then her office would represent Mr. Henson on count one, while Ms. Seiler would then represent Mr. Henson on counts two, three, four, and five. (1Aug.RT 9-10.)² Judge Penner asked for clarification of how a conflict would arise if the cases were to be consolidated. The Public Defender said she had represented a victim on the other case, and both counsel took issue with consolidation of the cases absent a motion to consolidate. (1Aug.RT 10-11.) The matter was continued again for arraignment and for

²That was not correct. Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4 were March 4, 2016 offenses charged in the 499 complaint. (1CT 6-8.) Counts 5, 6, and 7 were May 17, 2016 offenses, charged in the 119 complaint. (1CT 21-23.)

counsel to prepare a written opposition to filing the information combining the charges from the two complaints. (1Aug.RT 14.)

The matters came on again for hearing on December 15, 2016, in Department 34, before Judge Penner. Appointed counsel for case number 119 and case number 499 both appeared, along with counsel Mugridge, who stated he was bowing out entirely from all four cases. (1RT 4.) The Public Defender formally declared the above-mentioned conflict, and was relieved. Ciummo and Associates accepted appointment on case number 499. (1RT 7.) Mr. Henson's Ciummo and Associates's counsel, Ms. Seiler, asked Judge Penner not to file or accept the combined pleading, because the prosecution had not filed a motion to consolidate. (1RT 4-5.) Judge Penner sympathized with defense counsel's position, but said consolidation issues were separate from the issue of whether he should file the pleading; he knew of no legal mechanism stating he should refuse to file or accept the pleading in question. (1RT 5-6.) Judge Penner specified he was arraigning the defendant "on case ending 119 and 499 that are filed together in one information." (1RT 8.)

The clerk issued separate minutes for each case, regarding the December 15, 2016 hearing before Judge Penner in Department 34. The minutes for the 499 case state: "Court orders case consolidated .. All proceedings will be recorded in: F16903199 [sic]." (1CT 136.) Minutes for the 119 case similarly state: "Court orders. This case as lead case with case F16901499 consolidated into this case." (1CT 138.) However, the reporter's

transcript for that date indicates that Judge Penner did not order consolidation or designate a "lead" case. (1RT 1-11.)

Counsel now appointed on cases 119 and 499 filed a Penal Code section 995 motion for dismissal. She argued insufficiency of evidence in general, but only requested the dismissal of count seven (from the 499 case), for particular insufficiency of evidence issues. She urged the court to find insufficiency of evidence and/or to dismiss all of the counts in case number 499, due to lack of any motion to consolidate, citing California Rules of Court, rule 3.550. (1CT 139-147.)

The District Attorney filed an opposition, including an argument that the defense waived the right to challenge the filing of the combined information by not demurring. The District Attorney contended that Penal Code section 995 was not the appropriate vehicle to challenge the combination of two complaints in one information without the court's leave. (1CT 194-208.) He argued that Judge Penner had already ordered the complaints consolidated, and that Judge Penner had treated the defense motion not to file the combined information as a motion to sever, which was denied. (1CT 207-208.)

The Penal Code section 995 motion was decided in hearings conducted on January 13 and January 18, 2017, before Judge W. Kent Hamlin in Department 73.

Judge Hamlin, referencing the transcript of the December 15, 2016 hearing, noted the lack of consolidation orders or a severance ruling in any prior hearing. He also expressed

³He continued to argue this in the People's appeal of the superior court's ruling on the Penal Code section 995 motion. (AOB 7, fn.1.)

doubt that a demurrer could lie. He specified that he was not overturning any previous order made by another judge, but simply ruling on the motion to dismiss for lack of a motion to consolidate. (2RT 108-109, 128-129.) He granted the Penal Code section 995 motion to dismiss, finding that the prosecutor could not combine two complaints in one information without the court's leave. He stated it was his duty as a judge to control abuses of the judicial process, and fashioned a Solomonic remedy, dismissing the counts drawn from the complaint in case number 499, which were Counts 1, 2, 3, and 4, of the combined information. (1CT 235; 2RT 131-132.)

On October 19, 2018, the Court of Appeal of the Fifth Appellate District issued a published opinion in *People v. Henson* (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 490, reversing the Superior Court order dismissing the counts included in the information, from the complaint in case number 499. Justice Smith dissented.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF PENAL CODE SECTION 954 RENDERS CONSOLIDATION A JUDICIAL DECISION, NOT A MATTER OF PROSECUTORIAL DISCRETION. THERE IS NO LATENT AMBIGUITY IN THE STATUTE, TO ALLOW A PROSECUTOR TO COMBINE SEPARATELY BOUND-OVER COMPLAINTS, IN A "UNITARY INFORMATION." NOTHING IN PENAL CODE SECTION 949 OR IN COURT UNIFICATION (PROPOSITION 220) MAKES THE "SAME COURT" LANGUAGE OF PENAL CODE SECTION 954 INAPPLICABLE TO "UNITARY INFORMATIONS," WHICH ARE NOT RECOGNIZED OR AUTHORIZED IN THE PENAL CODE.

A. Introduction and overview

This is a People's appeal of an order of the Fresno County Superior Court, dismissing one of two sets of charges contained in what the Fresno County District Attorney called a "unitary information." This pleading was filed by the prosecutor with no notice to Mr. Henson's attorneys, and no Penal Code section 954 motion to consolidate. Judge Hamlin found that this usurped judicial powers, violated the separation of powers (Cal.Const., Art. III, §3), and violated the plain language of Penal Code section 954. As there was no established procedure for curbing what the judge deemed an abuse of power, he fashioned his own remedy, dismissing all but the charges from the case the prosecutor had self-designated the "lead" case. (2RT 118-119, 130-131.)

At one level, the prosecutor violated the explicit terms of Penal Code section 954, requiring judicial permission for consolidation. A prosecutor cannot circumvent the law

by calling two complaints an information, to avoid seeking leave to consolidate. This violates the declared purpose of Penal Code section 954, as amended in 1951, along with other criminal procedure statutes. (Pen. Code, §§ 739 and 949.) All of these statutes were enacted in the current version for the sole purpose of having criminal procedural statutes apply across the board to all courts. Consolidation via court order has been the law for over one hundred years.

At another level, the reasons why prosecutorial self-consolidation is not allowed are overlapping and not readily organized into discrete topics. Therefore this overview of the main points is provided for guidance in following the thread of the argument. Also, the matter turns upon some nuances of canons of statutory construction, which are set forth at some length, in Argument IB, *infra*.

A majority opinion of the Fifth Appellate District found a "unitary information" is allowed, despite Penal Code section 954, because it is not two complaints in the "same court," which the majority conceded would require a motion to consolidate. (Maj., at p. 505.) It is instead described as a "unitary information," a coinage of the Fresno County District Attorney. The term appears nowhere in Penal Code sections 954, 949, or 739. The majority and prosecutor claimed this was not a consolidation at all. The majority stated that it was administratively deemed a consolidation (Maj., at p. 504, fn. 7), yet another procedure never contemplated by the Penal Code.

The many references to the matter having been "consolidated" by the majority

opinion, a court clerk and judicial assistant, and the prosecutor himself (including in the notice of appeal) mean the "unitary information" was not unitary at all: it was two complaints. That single point cuts the Gordian knot of abstruse arguments, because it takes two pleadings for there to be a consolidation.

The prosecutor has contended, with an implied endorsement of the majority opinion, that prosecutors can always unilaterally effect "joinder" of offenses of the same class. Yet all aspects of consolidation of separately instituted prosecutions are reserved for judicial determination. (Argument IF, *infra*.) A judge may even deny consolidation precisely because a trial on combined charges of the same class may prejudice the jury, which by virtue of the consolidation will be made aware that the defendant is accused of violating the same statute more than once. (*Drew v. United States* (D.C. Cir. 1964) 331 F.2d 85, 94.) A court must balance the benefit of joining charges of similar offenses against the potential impairment of fair trial rights. A joint trial may even result in "gross unfairness," and deny a defendant due process of law, despite the correctness of the initial ruling denying severance of consolidated charges. (*People v. Mendoza* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 130, 162.)

No new terminology is required to determine the issue on review. Penal Code section 954 is the only Penal Code provision concerning the consolidation of separately filed criminal charges. Its plain meaning is that no aspect of consolidation is for the prosecutor to adjudicate. (Argument IF, *infra*.) Penal Code section 954 applies

consolidation requirements to multiple accusatory pleadings filed in the "same court."

Calling two complaints a "unitary information" is a change in the label of multiple complaints filed together, but does not substantively change the accusatory pleading - two unconsolidated complaints - and does not avoid the potential impairment of due process addressed by the longstanding requirement for judicial review. Therefore the filing of a "unitary information" does not permit ignoring the requirements of Penal Code section 954. It allows the prosecutor to unilaterally affect the fundamental fairness afforded the defendant, without the safeguards provided by the judicial consideration of consolidation mandated by Penal Code section 954. (Argument IF, *infra*.)

The majority opinion holds the prosecutor may file a single document containing multiple complaints in a "unitary information," so long as it is the "first accusatory pleading" (Pen. Code, sec. 949) in the superior court, and that it is filed within 15 days of bind-over, as Penal Code section 739 requires. (Maj., at pp, 504-507.) The majority held there that the "unitary information" was always permissible after the 1951 amendment of Penal Code section 954, inserting "same courts" language into the statute. In other words, since 1951, the prosecutor could avoid the consolidation requirements of Penal Code section 954, by referring to the document as "unitary," even if its contents do not comport with the law.

Presumably, in light of the majority's interpretation that Penal Code section 954 always allowed the stratagem of the "unitary information," the unification of the courts in

1998 makes no difference to the analysis. But it appears the majority finds even more impetus to endorse labeling combined complaints as informations, after court unification in 1998. The majority finds this created a "latent ambiguity" in the 1951 law. The court observed that before and after unification, municipal/magistrate courts and superior courts had distinct functions. (Maj. at pp. 508-509.) Because the Legislature did not "explicitly amend" Penal Code section 954 after court unification, this rendered "same courts" language surplusage. Thus, the majority decided that by negative implication, the filing of "unitary informations," was permitted, especially after 1998. (Maj. at p. 510.)

This ignores the plain language and legislative history of the "same courts" language of Penal Code section 954. This language was added in 1951 for the declared purpose of applying criminal procedures to all existing courts, including municipal courts. There was no esoteric meaning behind the term "courts;" the Legislature simply referred to procedures applying to the various levels of courts then in existence.

Penal Code section 739, 949, and 954 took their current form as part of an omnibus criminal procedure reform bill, Senate Bill 543, enacted in 1951. (See Request for Judicial Notice; Governor's Chaptered Bill file, Stats 1951, Chapter 1674.)⁴ The bill was designed to reflect the existing structure of courts, which then included municipal courts. It standardized and clarified terminology, to ensure that procedural statutes

⁴ All citations to SB 543 materials are from the same source, the Governor's Chaptered Bill file, three parts of which petitioner requests judicial notice: The bill itself, the Legislative Analysis, and a letter regarding the bill.

applied clearly to all courts, not just one tier of courts. Therefore consolidation would be required to combine two complaints before bindover, in municipal/magistrate courts, or to combine two informations in the superior court. The language still serves that purpose and conveys that same plain meaning.

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