FILED WITH PERMISSION In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

Jorge	Navarrete	Clerk
-------	-----------	-------

OCT 1 0 2019

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

Case No. S252702

v.

CODY WADE HENSON,

Defendant and Respondent.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F075101 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. CF16903119 The Honorable W. Kent Hamlin, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LISA A. SMITTCAMP Fresno County District Attorney ROBERT WHALEN Chief Deputy District Attorney DOUGLAS O. TREISMAN Senior Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 131986 3333 E. American Ave., Ste. F Fresno, CA 93725

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

ARGUMENT

I

BY FAILING TO DEMURRER AND BY ARRAIGNING HENSON ON THE UNIFIED INFORMATION, ANY ISSUE OF JOINDER OF THE CHARGES WAS FORFEITED, AND A DEFENDANT MAY NOT CHALLENGE JOINDER THROUGH A SECTION 995 MOTION.

The People are mindful that this appeal was addressed by the 5DCA as a question predominantly concerning statutory interpretation of sections 954, 949, and 739, and a determination of whether the prosecution is authorized to join charges properly held to answer in separate preliminary hearings in the magisterial court by filing a unified or unitary information to commence proceedings in the superior court.

While the People welcome that clarification and will certainly address those questions below, the issue of whether Henson's failure to file a demurrer to challenge what Henson argued before the 5DCA, and now maintains was a plain violation of section 954's provisions, ¹⁴ is addressed first in this briefing because the issue should be dispositive of the appeal. That is, the People maintain that if there was an apparent violation of section 954, the remedy was to raise that issue by demurrer. A failure to demurrer waives any objection to the joinder, even if improper, of different counts in one information. (§ 1012; *People v. Pearson* (1940) 41 Cal.App.2d 614, 619, cert. denied, (1941) 313 U.S. 587, overruled on other grounds *In re Wright* (1967) 65 Cal.2d 650, 654-55 (addressing §654 sentencing error).)

The issue is also addressed first in this brief because it illuminates the broader statutory scheme in which the sections addressing demurrer play a part. In reviewing the conclusions stated by the dissenting justice in *Henson*, the interplay of sections 954, 949, 739, 1009, 1002, 1004, 1012, and others, and the place that authorization for a demurrer fits into that scheme, reveals the authorization for joinder and consolidation, their distinction, and the rationale as to when each is permitted.

It also clearly demonstrates that section 739 was not intended as a prohibition to joinder that would otherwise comport with the requirements of section 954. Rather, the statutes present a working interaction broadly favoring joinder in which section 739 has a place. The statutes, when

¹⁴ Although in the motions court Henson's primary argument against the People's unitary Information was that "California Rules of Court, rule 3.350(a)(1)(c) ... [required] a notice of motion to consolidate ...," (Henson, supra, at 498) and Henson referred to section 1009 (Id. at FN 5), at no time did Henson discuss or cite section 739 in the motions court or in briefing before the 5DCA.

viewed as a harmonized tapestry, reveal a process in which joinder is greatly favored; some limitations on joinder are imposed as matters reach the trial court; discretionary limitations and judicial oversight of consolidation is introduced in a post arraignment context; and all joinder and consolidation is ultimately subject to trial court discretionary severance in the event of good cause. (§ 954)

As a practical matter, subdivision 3 of Section 1004 provides that a "defendant may demur to the accusatory pleading at any time prior to the entry of a plea" when it appears that more than one offense is charged, except as provided in Section 954. (§ 1004; *People v. Brooks* (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 24, 29-30.) Section 1012 provides that the means of bringing those objections found in section 1004, when the basis for those objections appear on the face of the accusatory pleading, is only by demurrer "and failure so to take it shall be deemed a waiver thereof." (*People v. Brooks, supra*, 166 Cal.App.3d 24, 29-30.)

Section 1012 reads in full as follows:

"When any of the objections mentioned in Section 1004 appears on the face of the accusatory pleading, it can be taken only by demurrer, and failure so to take it shall be deemed a waiver thereof, except that the objection to the jurisdiction of the court and the objection that the facts stated do not constitute a public offense may be taken by motion in arrest of judgment."

(§ 1012.)

Brooks goes on to explain that "[u]nder this section it is well settled that in the absence of demurrer or proper objection, the defendant must be deemed to have waived the point as the section expressly provides." (People v. Brooks, supra, 166 Cal.App.3d 24, 29-30, citing People v. Stone (1926) 199 Cal. 610, 624; and, People v. Rankin (1959) 169 Cal.App.2d 150, 158.) Brooks also explains that "[t]his is so even where there is a clear misjoinder." (People v. Brooks, supra, 166 Cal.App.3d 24, 29-30, quoting

People v. Cummings (1959) 173 Cal.App.2d 721, 730, disapproved in part by People v. Whitmer (2014) 59 Cal.4th 733, 740, and People v. Kemp (1961) 55 Cal.2d 458, 474.)

Specifically, subdivision 3 of section 1004 authorizes a defendant to "demur to the accusatory pleading ... when it appears upon the face thereof ..." "[t]hat more than one offense is charged, except as provided in Section 954." (§ 1004, subd. 3.) As a consequence, if charges are properly joined or consolidated in accordance with section 954, a demurrer may not be brought as a means to challenge that joinder or consolidation. If, however, as Henson alleges, the joinder or consolidation fails to comply with section 954 and is apparent on the face of the pleading, then demurrer is the proper procedure by which to challenge the pleading; right or wrong.

Henson argued from the start that the People had failed to notice a motion to consolidate when the unitary Information was filed, arguing a failure to comply with rule 3.350 of the California Rules of Court and amendment of the pleadings outside of the requirements of section 1009. (RT:4; *Henson, supra*, 28 Cal.App.5th 490, 498.) Although Henson did not address section 954 below, and did not even brief section 739 in the Court of Appeal, the issue argued by Henson has been, from the start, that joinder or consolidation effected by the People through the filing of a unitary pleading was unauthorized and appeared on the face of the People's pleading.

While the People address below why the interpretation of sections 954 and 739 should not be read as prohibiting the procedure followed by the People, even if one reads into section 739 an implicit prohibition against the joinder accomplished by the People's filing of a unitary information, Henson's remedy was to file a demurrer. Having failed to do so, challenge to the joinder was forfeited and could not properly be brought collaterally under section 995. (§ 1012.)

In fact, if there was an implicit prohibition against joinder in section 739, then the attempted joinder by the People could not be authorized by section 954. That is, as the dissent stated, it makes no sense that section 739 prohibits independently that which section 954 would simultaneously authorize. But this is largely the point of the People; because section 954 does plainly authorize joinder, and defines specifically when consolidation of accusatory pleadings requires leave of court, where joinder is authorized and the conditions requiring leave of court are not present, it would seem an absurd reading of section 739 to conclude that the Legislature intended to simultaneously prohibit that authorized joinder in section 954.

This becomes more apparent with a close look at the statutes and what they address. Section 739 addresses "Time for filing information based on order of commitment or preliminary examination." (§ 739.) It does not address joinder or consolidation. In contrast, section 954 permits joinder of charges in a single accusatory pleading, in that "[a]n accusatory pleading may charge two or more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different statements of the same offense or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts." (§ 954.) In contrast, consolidation of pleadings, separately requires leave of court "if two or more accusatory pleadings are filed in such cases in the same court." (§ 954.)

An accusatory pleading is defined in subdivision (c) of section 691 to include "an indictment, an information, an accusation, and a complaint." (§691, subd. (c).) Holding orders pursuant to subdivision (a) of section 872 are not within the definition of accusatory pleadings. Therefore, court authorized consolidation, as defined in section 954, does not apply to other than accusatory pleadings and would not statutorily apply to holding orders.

In fact, section 954 addresses "filed" pleadings when referring to consolidation. This is so in its present form, and the section has addressed

"filed" pleadings since joinder was first authorized in 1915. (Stats. 1915, ch. 452, p. 744 ["if two or more indictments or informations are filed in such cases the court may order them to be consolidated."], emphasis added.)

Instead, if one reads section 739 as imposing a prohibition, then one is granting section 739 preeminence over section 954, rather than harmonizing the statutory scheme. It was this state of preeminence of section 739 that the Court of Appeal rejected, and the People argued was inconsistent with the statutory fabric, the specific language of section 954, and the favored status of joinder. (*Henson, supra, 28* Cal.App.5th 490, 511, fn. 13.)

Although the People maintain otherwise, even if one attempts to read section 739 as strictly requiring a single accusatory pleading be filed for each holding order, thus prohibiting the type of joinder of charges that occurred here, 15 it would seem that whatever was intended to be prohibited by section 739, if anything, would also have been intended to be prohibited or unauthorized by section 954.

It is not reasonable to believe that the Legislature would prohibit joinder in section 739 while simultaneously authorizing that joinder in section 954. So, one may look to the statute concerning demurrer to see if the provisions of section 954 are subject to demurrer. That is, if sections 1002 and 1004 authorize a demurrer to challenge pleadings that fail to comport with section 954, and demurrer is authorized as an appropriate

¹⁵ Because consolidation is a type of joinder, the People have referred to the first portion of section 954 as broadly authorizing 'joinder' while the second provision addressing consolidation of accusatory pleadings, as 'consolidation.' The People view that form of consolidation designated by section 954 to require court approval, to constitute a term of art as compared with other forms of joinder or consolidation that do not require court approval by statutory provision.

filing in response to an information, then section 739 is subject to the provisions of section 954. And, if joinder is authorized by section 954, it is not prohibited by section 739.

That said, the circumstances presented in this case would fall squarely within the provisions of subdivision 3 of section 1004, <u>assuming a prohibition in sections 739 and 954</u>, but certainly would require any objection to be raised by demurrer rather than a section 995 challenge.

To this end, in *Cummings* there was no question that counts had been improperly joined, in that there were counts that addressed one defendant alone as compared with the counts alleging crimes by multiple defendants. (*People v. Cummings, supra*, 173 Cal.App.2d 721, 730.) The court observed that "misjoinder is not one of the grounds upon which the information may be attacked under section 995 of the Penal Code. That objection to the information may be only raised by demurrer. (Pen. Code, § 1004, subd. 3.) By failing to demur, appellant waived the misjoinder (Pen. Code, § 1012)." (*Id.*)

Having failed to demurrer and forfeited his objection to the joinder accomplished through the People's unitary Information, Henson elected to improperly pursue a section 995 challenge. The motions judge focused on consolidation, ignoring or misapprehending the meaning of sections 954 and 1004, and proceeded to improperly address the issue of joinder by a section 995 motion. The court further erred by dismissing joined counts as to which no proper objection was made.

While the People maintain that the joinder was proper by the express terms of section 954, even if improperly joined, the section 995 challenge was itself improper. A defendant's objection to joinder is forfeited by failure to pursue a demurrer.

Henson contends that, if a demurrer is the proper mechanism for challenging joinder, his counsel was ineffective for failing to demurrer. (ROB:61-62.) As explained *post* even if there was a failure to demurrer, the cases were properly joined. Accordingly, Henson can not satisfy the prejudice prong of *Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 693-695.)

II

SECTION 954 AUTHORIZES JOINDER OF TWO OR MORE DIFFERENT OFFENSES OF THE SAME CLASS OF CRIMES AT THE DISCRETION OF THE PROSECUTION. SECTIONS 954 AND 739 DO NOT PRECLUDE JOINDER OR REQUIRE A COURT ORDER WHERE THERE ARE NOT TWO OR MORE ACCUSATORY PLEADINGS FILED IN THE SAME COURT.

Section 954 reads in full as follows:

"An accusatory pleading may charge two or more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different statements of the same offense or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts, and if two or more accusatory pleadings are filed in such cases in the same court, the court may order them to be consolidated. The prosecution is not required to elect between the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading, but the defendant may be convicted of any number of the offenses charged, and each offense of which the defendant is convicted must be stated in the verdict or the finding of the court; provided, that the court in which a case is triable, in the interests of justice and for good cause shown, may in its discretion order that the different offenses or counts set forth in the accusatory pleading be tried separately or divided into two or more groups and each of said groups tried separately. An acquittal of one or more counts shall not be deemed an acquittal of any other count." (§ 954.)

The People have maintained that section 954's "same court" language has a meaning that dates back to a time when the Municipal Court and Superior Court were separate and distinct courts, both physically and

administratively. For that reason, the meaning of section 954's "same court" language retains that original meaning, referring to the two courts as distinct, as opposed to any altered meaning following the adoption of Proposition 220, and the administrative unification of the two courts into the current superior court following court consolidation. ¹⁶

While Henson still maintains otherwise, both the Court of Appeal and dissenting Justice found agreement in the meaning of the "same court" language in section 954 (although disagreeing over requirements of section 739), in that the "same court" phrase makes reference to the separate courts prior to court consolidation. Both the majority and the dissent found that section 954 retains its same meaning after court consolidation. 17 (Henson, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th 490, 506-507, 527-528.)

¹⁶ The Court of Appeal observed the following: "Prior to 1998, the judicial power of California was vested in the Supreme Court, Courts of Appeal, superior courts, and municipal courts. (Cal. Const., art. VI, former § 1; see § 691, former subd. (a) [defining 'inferior courts' as including municipal courts and justices' courts].) It is logical to conclude that, at such time, the separation of courts was such that section 954 meant judicial permission was required to consolidate two or more accusatory pleadings filed in municipal court, or two or more accusatory pleadings filed in superior court. Permission would not have been required to do what the People did in the present case: file a single information as their first pleading in superior court (§ 949), covering charges as to which separate complaints were filed, and the defendant was separately held to answer, in municipal court. This is so because superior court and municipal court were not the same court." (Henson, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th 490, 505.)

¹⁷ The Court of Appeal explained, "[c]ourt unification has given rise to an ambiguity in section 954: Does the phrase 'in the same court' mean in the single, unified superior court, or does the phrase retain its original, preunification meaning? If the former, then the People were required to obtain a court order allowing consolidation of cases 119 and 499. If the latter, the unitary information was proper."

[&]quot;We conclude the phrase retains its preunification meaning. To construe it otherwise would be to render the phrase surplusage, make section 949 virtually meaningless, and conflict with other statutes related to (continued...)

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